No. 46329-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

Kenneth Taylor,

Appellant.

Pacific County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-00009-8

The Honorable Judge Michael J. Sullivan

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial judge violated Mr. Taylor's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury trial.
- 2. The trial judge violated Mr. Taylor's state constitutional right to a jury trial under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21 and 22.
- 3. The trial court improperly coerced a verdict from the jury.
- 4. The trial court erred by directing jurors to "return to the jury room and complete Verdict Form A and Verdict Form B" without first determining if they'd reached a unanimous decision.
- 5. The trial judge violated CrR 6.15(f)(2).
- 6. The trial court erred by refusing to set aside the verdicts.
 - **ISSUE 1:** Did the trial judge infringe Mr. Taylor's constitutional right to verdicts free of judicial coercion?
 - **ISSUE 2:** Did the trial judge err by telling jurors to "return to the jury room and complete Verdict Form A and Verdict Form B" without first determining if they'd reached a unanimous decision?
- 7. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Taylor's motion to suppress.
- 8. The trial court erred by admitting into evidence items obtained in violation of Mr. Taylor's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment and his right to privacy under Wash. Const. art. I, § 7.
- 9. The trial court erred by finding that the telephonic affidavit established B.W.'s reliability as an informant.
- 10. The trial court erred by overlooking Deputy Tully's material misrepresentations.
- 11. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 12. CP 103.
- 12. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 13. CP 104.

- 13. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 14. CP 104.
- 14. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 17. CP 104.
- 15. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2. CP 105.
- 16. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 3. CP 105.
- 17. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 4. CP 105.
- 18. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 6. CP 105.
- 19. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 7. CP 105.
- 20. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 8. CP 106.
 - **ISSUE 3:** Was the search warrant issued without probable cause?
 - **ISSUE 4:** Are the bare allegations of a runaway "juvenile under the influence" of methamphetamine insufficient to establish probable cause, especially when the allegations are heard by an officer who "would not speculate toward her motivation" in making the accusations?
 - **ISSUE 5:** Should the trial judge have suppressed the evidence after learning facts showing that Deputy Tully knowingly gave false information to alleviate the issuing magistrate's concerns?
- 21. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 3.
- 22. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Taylor's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 23. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Taylor's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury trial.
- 24. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Taylor's right to a jury trial under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21 and 22.
- 25. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof and undermined the presumption of innocence.
 - **ISSUE 6:** By defining a "reasonable doubt" as a doubt "for

which a reason exists," did the trial court undermine the presumption of innocence, impermissibly shift the burden of proof, and violate Mr. Taylor's constitutional right to a jury trial?

- 26. Mr. Taylor's drug-zone enhancements violated his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to an adequate charging document.
- 27. Mr. Taylor's drug-zone enhancements violated his state constitutional right to an adequate charging document under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22.
- 28. The charging document failed to allege critical facts identifying the location of the school bus route stop and allowing Mr. Taylor to plead a former acquittal or conviction in any subsequent prosecution.
 - **ISSUE 7:** Was the Information insufficient to properly charge a drug-zone enhancement because it failed to specify the location of the school bus route stop?
- 29. The trial court erred by running the school zone enhancements consecutively to each other.

ISSUE 8: Did the trial court err by imposing consecutive drugzone enhancements, given the legislature's intent that such enhancements run concurrently with each other?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

B.W. was a 16 year old in foster care. She ran away from her placement, stayed for a while at her drug dealer's, and caught up with her old friend Miranda Tiekamp. RP (4/14/14) 54-56; RP (4/15/14) 13, 15, 18. They used methamphetamine together, and both were looking for a place to stay. RP (4/15/14) 20, 87, 89.

Tiekamp knew Kenneth Taylor had a house with an extra bedroom. RP (4/15/14) 22, 71. She asked Mr. Taylor if she and B.W. could stay with him. Tiekamp told him that she had recently been beaten up by her boyfriend and needed a safe place. Mr. Taylor agreed. RP (4/15/14) 71, 90, 271.

At some point, it became clear to Mr Taylor that Tiekamp had been dishonest in her claims to have been abused at the hands of her boyfriend. Taylor and Tiekamp argued, and he told her to leave. RP (4/14/14) 65; RP (4/15/14) 34, 104, 273-274. He also told B.W. to leave his home. RP (4/14/14) 65.

The girls left separately, and B.W. walked toward the home of another friend. RP (4/14/14) 66; RP (4/15/14) 38. Deputy Boggs saw her and arrested her on an outstanding warrant. RP (4/14/14) 67; RP (4/15/14) 18-19, 38, 124-126. B.W. was very high: she felt she could not see or

breathe, and asked for medical care. RP (4/14/14) 68; RP (4/15/14) 39-41, 51. Boggs could see that she was struggling: she was twitchy, had a hard time breathing, and suffered chest pain. RP (4/15/14) 126-128, 136, 142.

At this point, very high and arrested on a warrant, B.W. told Boggs, and Tully by phone, that she had been at Kenneth Taylor's and he had provided her with methamphetamine. RP (4/15/14) 44, 128-129, 179.

Tully sought a search warrant. In the application, Deputy Tully said that he used to be the community corrections officer who supervised Mr. Taylor. In fact, he was in an office of two officers at the time, and Mr. Taylor had been assigned to his partner. RP (4/4/14) 12-13.

When asked by the judge considering the warrant request, Tully said he knew Mr. Taylor to be a drug user without any reference to how long ago he obtained this information. RP (4/4/14) 17. Tully also relied on information from B.W., who was so obviously affected by substances that she was transported to the hospital. RP (4/4/14) 42, 46-47.

The state charged Mr. Taylor with possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver, and delivery of a controlled substance to a person under 18. CP 29-30. Both charges carried school bus stop enhancements, but the Information did not specify the location of the alleged bus stops. CP 29-30.

The court held a *Franks* hearing, and denied the defense motion to suppress evidence. RP (4/4/14) 6-38. The court also denied the defense motion to suppress the fruits of the search based on the informant's unreliability. RP (4/4/14) 39-49.

At trial, the state offered the testimony of Timothy Triesch, the geographic analyst for the county, over the defendant's objections. RP (4/15/14) 212-215, 219-238. He had prepared a map, but some of the relevant streets were apparently mislabeled. RP (4/15/14) 222-223; RP (4/16/14) 48-49. Steve Jones, the transportation supervisor for Raymond schools, identified the school bus stop using the map. RP (4/15/14) 232-234.

Deputy Tully told the jury that he "measured" the distance between a location and Mr. Taylor's house. But he did not calibrate the tool he used for it, nor did he know when, if ever, the tool had been calibrated. RP (4/15/14) 241, 243. Further, Tully acknowledged that the location he measured from was not the same location that Jones had identified as a bus stop. RP (4/15/14) 241-245.

Mr. Taylor moved to dismiss the school bus stop enhancements, which the court denied. RP (4/15/14) 248-251. The prosecutor clarified that they were pursuing the stop that Jones testified was present, not the one from which Tully measured. RP (4/15/14) 252.

Mr. Taylor testified and admitted that he let the young women stay at his house. He acknowledged he was a drug user, but denied giving B.W. methamphetamine. RP (4/15/14) 269, 271-275, 280.

The trial judge gave the jury a standard instruction on reasonable doubt, calling it "a doubt for which a reason exists." CP 37.

After deliberating for some time, the jury apparently told the bailiff they had a verdict. RP (4/16/14) 97. They were brought into the courtroom and handed forward their verdict forms. RP (4/16/14) 97. The forms were signed, but the blank for "guilty" or "not guilty" was not filled in for any of the three offense forms. The special verdict forms were signed, with the blanks filled in with "yes." RP (4/16/14) 99. The court sent them back into the jury room while conferring with the attorneys. RP (4/16/14) 98-120.

Mr. Taylor moved for a mistrial, which the court denied. RP (4/16/14) 108-109.

Over defense objection, the judge brought the jurors back into open court and asked if they were "able to reach a verdict" as to each count. RP (4/16/14) 108-112, 116, 121-122. Upon receiving two affirmative answers, the court directed the jury to return to the jury room and complete the forms. RP (4/16/14) 122.

The jury again handed up their forms, this time with "guilty" filled in. RP(4/16/14) 124-126.

The defense asked the court to set aside the verdicts and dismiss the charges against Mr. Taylor. The court denied the motion. RP (5/9/14) 2-14.

At the sentencing hearing, the court ordered that the school zone enhancements be run consecutive to each other, and consecutive to the rest of the sentence. CP 84.

Mr. Taylor timely appealed. CP 94-95.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL JUDGE IMPROPERLY COERCED A VERDICT FROM THE JURY.

A judge presiding over a criminal trial may not interfere in the jury's deliberative process. State v. Boogaard, 90 Wn.2d 733, 737, 585 P.2d 789 (1978). Here, the trial judge coerced the jury into returning a verdict.

Jury deliberations are not complete until the jury announces that it has reached a unanimous verdict. *State v. Ford*, 171 Wn.2d 185, 190, 250

¹ The right to a jury trial is protected by U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV, and by Wash. Const. art. I, §§21 and 22.

P.3d 97 (2011).² In this case, the judge instructed jurors to fill in their verdict forms without first determining whether or not they'd achieved unanimity. RP (4/16/14) 97-98, 121-123. This violated Mr. Taylor's state and federal constitutional right to a jury trial.

Although court reconvened with the understanding that the jury had reached a verdict, the trial judge never asked the presiding juror if the jury had reached a *unanimous* verdict. RP (4/16/14) 97-98, 121-123. Nor did the judge poll the individual jurors on the question of unanimity. RP (4/16/14) 97-98, 121-123. Instead, the court assumed that any decision was unanimous, and directed jurors to fill in the verdicts. RP (4/16/14) 97-98, 121-123.

When the judge announced that the jury had signed the verdict forms but left some of them blank, defense counsel argued that the jury was deadlocked. RP (4/16/14) 104. He expressed concern that questions "posed to the jury might now be seen by them as an instruction to now come up with a verdict even if they didn't before." RP (4/16/14) 108.

Despite this, the court failed to ask if jurors were unanimous. RP (4/16/14) 97-98, 121-123. Nor did the judge assume deadlock and exercise

9

² Ford marked a departure: prior cases had suggested that deliberation continues until the verdict is filed and the jury discharged. Ford, 171 Wn.2d at 196-198 (Stephens, J., dissenting) (collecting cases).

the appropriate degree of caution. RP (4/16/14) 97-98, 121-123; *see*, *e.g.*, *Boogaard*,90 Wn.2d at 736-740.

Because the court failed to ask whether the jury had reached a unanimous verdict, the jury was still engaged in deliberations. *Ford*, 171 Wn.2d at 190. The court should not have ordered jurors to complete the blank verdict forms. The court's directive violated Mr. Taylor's constitutional rights. *Boogaard*, 90 Wn.2d at 737.

The court also violated the superior court criminal rules, which provide as follows:

After jury deliberations have begun, the court *shall not instruct the jury in such a way as to suggest the need for agreement*, the consequences of no agreement, or the length of time a jury will be required to deliberate.

CrR 6.15(f)(2). Jury deliberations had "begun" in this case; thus, the court should not have "instruct[ed] the jury in such a way as to suggest the need for agreement..." CrR 6.15(f)(2). By directing jurors to "return to the jury room and complete Verdict Form A and Verdict Form B," the court ordered them to come to agreement. RP (4/16/14) 123.

To prevail on a claim of judicial interference with a verdict, the defendant must show a reasonably substantial possibility that the verdict was improperly influenced by the judge's intervention. *Id.*, at 188-189.

Here, there is a reasonable possibility that the verdict was improperly influenced.

The judge told jurors that "[t]he Court is directing the jury to return to the jury room and complete Verdict Form A and Verdict Form B according to the answer given by the Presiding Juror that the jury was able to reach a verdict." RP (4/16/14) 123. Because the jury had not yet announced a *unanimous* verdict, this directive improperly influenced the jury's deliberations. *Id*.

Mr. Taylor's convictions must be reversed. *Id.* The case must be remanded for a new trial. *Id.*

- II. THE COURT ADMITTED EVIDENCE UNLAWFULLY SEIZED IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT AND WASH. CONST. ART. I § 7.
- A. The affidavit did not establish probable cause: Deputy Tully "would not speculate" about why the "juvenile under the influence" accused Mr. Taylor of providing her drugs and could not overcome the judge's stated concern that B.W. was "not very reliable."

After hearing Deputy Tully's summary of B.W.'s accusation, the issuing judge said:

[Y]ou have a juvenile under the influence and you got anything else? Cause that's not very reliable. Ex. C, p. 2., Supp. CP.

Tully did not have anything else; hence, the warrant was not supported by

probable cause.

Washington uses the two-pronged *Aguilar-Spinelli*³ standard to evaluate an informant's allegations. *State v. Ollivier*, 178 Wn.2d 813, 850, 312 P.3d 1 (2013) *cert. denied*, 135 S.Ct. 72 (2014). A search warrant affidavit must allow the magistrate "to determine whether the informant has *truthfully* related the facts." *State v. Mejia*, 111 Wn.2d 892, 896, 766 P.2d 454 (1989) (emphasis in original).

The fact that an informant is named does not by itself establish reliability. *State v. Aase*, 121 Wn. App. 558, 568, 89 P.3d 721 (2004). The police must still ascertain background facts supporting a "reasonable inference" that the informant is "credible and without motive to falsify." *Id*.

In this case, Deputy Tully provided no "background facts" about his informant, B.W. Ex. C, pp. 2-7.⁴ Indeed, when asked "why is she reliable?" Tully responded "well to be honest Your Honor I don't know [B.W.] very well." Ex. C, p. 4.

Tully went on to say that "she has been on the run for a couple months now...and had this juvenile warrant," that the warrant was for

³ *Aguilar v. Texas*, 378 U.S. 108, 84 S.Ct. 1509, 12 L.Ed.2d 723 (1964) and *Spinelli v. United States*, 393 U.S. 410, 89 S.Ct. 584, 21 L.Ed.2d 637 (1969).

⁴ Page numbers refer to those noted on the transcript itself. The exhibit also includes an unnumbered cover page.

"contempt court truancy [sic]," and that "she has been in and out of foster care and... just didn't want to be with foster care." Ex. C, p. 4. When asked about her possible motivation for providing information, Tully responded "I don't know her motivation" and "I would not speculate towards her motivation, Your Honor." Ex. C, pp. 5, 6.

Tully did not verify any of B.W.'s allegations through investigation.⁵ Indeed, the only "corroboration" he presented was his claim that Mr. Taylor had drug involvement from three years prior.⁶ Ex. C, pp. 3, 5.

The telephonic affidavit did not provide probable cause.⁷ Tully produced no evidence of B.W.'s reliability, and no information corroborating B.W.'s accusation. Ex. C. The magistrate should not have issued the search warrant. Thus, the trial judge should have granted Mr. Taylor's motion and suppressed the evidence. *Ollivier*, 178 Wn.2d at 850.

Mr. Taylor's convictions must be reversed. *Id.* The evidence must be suppressed, and the case dismissed with prejudice. *Id.*

⁵ Furthermore, B.W. did not voluntarily come forward and provide Tully her name. Instead, she was arrested on a warrant, taken to the hospital by ambulance, and contacted there by Deputy Tully. RP (4/15/14) 124-129, 177-179; Ex. C.

⁶ He also claimed that unnamed "informants" had "mentioned his name you know kind of in passing nothing [sic] real definite but uh that he is involved in the use of drugs." Ex. C, p. 6.

⁷ The validity of a search warrant is an issue of law reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008).

B. Deputy Tully intentionally misrepresented facts to obtain the search warrant.

After hearing Deputy Tully's information, the issuing magistrate responded skeptically:

[Y]ou have a juvenile under the influence and you got anything else? Cause that's not very reliable... [W]hy would we believe her? Ex. C, p. 2.

In response, Tully told the judge "I know Ken... quite well," and asserted that he'd been Mr. Taylor's DOC probation officer "approximately three years ago." Ex. C, p. 2.

In fact, Tully did not know Mr. Taylor "quite well." Ex. C, p. 2. As he later revealed at a *Franks* hearing, Tully only knew Mr. Taylor as an offender on his colleague's caseload. RP (4/4/14) 12-13, 28. Although the two officers shared supervision duties, Tully's acquaintance with Mr. Taylor consisted primarily of a single conversation that occurred when he transported him to the jail. RP (4/4/14) 14.

At the hearing Tully admitted that he "didn't have a great amount of dealings with him," and didn't "know him... in a personal capacity." RP (4/4/14) 28. Instead, he claimed that he meant to convey that he "[knew] his history quite well." RP (4/4/14) 28.

However, when Judge Goelz asked Tully about Mr. Taylor's history, Tully mistakenly asserted that Mr. Taylor had prior convictions

for dealing. Ex. C, p. 3. Tully then admitted that Mr. Taylor didn't even have "any particular drug *arrest* in our county," and that he "couldn't speak to" arrests anywhere else. Ex. C, p. 3 (emphasis added).

A search warrant may be invalidated if it is supported by an affidavit containing material misrepresentations made intentionally or with reckless disregard for the truth. *Ollivier*, 178 Wn.2d at 847. Here, Tully misrepresented the degree of his familiarity with Mr. Taylor. He did not know him "quite well" as he told the magistrate. At best, he knew him slightly: he'd shared supervision of Mr. Taylor three years earlier, and they'd shared only one memorable conversation. RP (4/4/14) 12-16.

Tully's assertion—that he'd supervised Mr. Taylor and knew him "quite well"—came as a direct response to the magistrate's comment that B.W. was "not very reliable" and his question "[W]hy would we believe her?" Ex. C, p. 2. Tully intentionally misrepresented the truth, exaggerating his familiarity with Mr. Taylor, in order to reassure the judge.

Material misrepresentations such as these may not be considered when an affidavit is assessed for probable cause. *Id.* When Tully's material misrepresentation is excised from the telephonic affidavit, the remainder fails to establish probable cause.

As the issuing judge noted, B.W. was "a juvenile under the influence," and was thus "not very reliable." Ex. C, p. 2. Tully wouldn't speculate as to her motivation for accusing Mr. Taylor. Ex. C, p. 6. Tully's other information consisted only of rumors from unnamed "informants" who'd "mentioned his name you know kind of in passing nothing nothing [sic] real definite but uh that he is involved in the use of drugs." Ex. C, p. 6.

Tully's misrepresentations should not have been considered. *Id.*Without them, the affidavit lacked probable cause, and the trial judge should have granted Mr. Taylor's motion to suppress. The convictions must be reversed, the evidence suppressed, and the case dismissed with prejudice. *Id.*

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