No. 46329-6-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.


KENNETH TAYLOR

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK MCCLAIN
Pacific County Prosecuting Attorney

By:


Mark McClain, WSBA No. 30909
Prosecuting Attorney
OID #91115

Pacific County Prosecutor's Office
PO Box 45
South Bend, WA 98586-0045
(360) 875-9361

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

Mr. Taylor complains, for the first time on appeal⁴, that the "reasonable doubt" instruction, WPIC 4.01, relieved the state from its burden, "subtly" shifted the burden, created a lower standard of proof, and imposed an articulation requirement that violated the constitution. Appellant's Brief 16-18. Mr. Taylor invited this issue and he is therefore precluded from asserting this issue on appeal.

1. Mr. Taylor invited any error

Without conceding that the jury was improperly instructed, Mr. Taylor made no objection to the proposed jury instructions, including WPIC 4.01, about which he now complains. The appellate court may

⁴ There was no objection or exceptions from Mr. Taylor to the proposed jury instructions at the trial level. RP (4/16/14) 297, PR (4/16/14) 2-3.

revise to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a).

A party may not request an instruction and later complain on appeal that the requested instruction was given. *City of Seattle v. Patu*, 147 Wash.2d 717, 58 P.3d 273 (2002), citing *State v. Studd*, 137 Wash.2d 533, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999); see also *State v. Henderson*, 114 Wash.2d 867, 870, 792 P.2d 514 (1990); see also *State v. Boyer*, 91 Wash.2d 342, 345, 588 P.2d 1151 (1979).

Accordingly, Mr. Taylor's claim that WPIC 4.01 is improper is barred on appeal.

2. WPIC 4.01 was properly given and is an appropriate statement of the law.

Challenged jury instructions are reviewed *de novo* and evaluated in the context of the instructions as a whole. *State v. McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. 444, 461-62, 284 P.3d 793 (2012). Constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880, 246 P.3d 796 (2011). Instructions must convey to the jury that the State bears the burden of proving every essential element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wash.2d 303, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007)(The Supreme Court, in exercising its supervisory powers over State's Courts,

mandated the use of WPIC 4.01)⁵, citing *Victor v. Nebraska*, 511 U.S. 1, 5-6, 114 S.Ct. 1239, 127 L.Ed.2d 583 (1994)(upholding the “abiding-belief” instruction), see also *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wash.2d 628, 656-659, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). Instructions must properly inform the jury of the applicable law, not mislead the jury, and permit each party to argue its theory of the case. *Bennett, supra*, citing *State v. LeFaber*, 128 Wash.2d 896, 903, 913 P.2d 369 (1996). It is reversible error to instruct the jury in a manner relieving the State of its burden to prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Bennett*, (citation omitted) citing, *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 280–81, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993). However, as a result of *Bennett* it would have been error not to instruct the jury utilizing WPIC 4.01. This instruction has been upheld and nothing within appellant’s brief provides a basis to set it aside.

V. THE SENTENCING ENHANCEMENTS WERE PROPER

Mr. Taylor contends that RCW 9.94A.533(6) does not authorize a sentencing court to apply the school bus stop enhancements consecutively to one another. Specifically, Mr. Taylor argues that the legislature intended these specific sentencing

⁵ This issue was asserted by appellant’s counsel in *Bennett* and also cited as authority in appellant’s brief at p. 17.

enhancements to run concurrently because, unlike other statutory provisions that specify when multiple enhancements of the same category run consecutively to each other, the school bus stop enhancement provision does not.

The legislature has plenary authority over sentencing. *State v. Jones*, 182 Wn.2d 1, 6, 338 P.3d 278 (2014). Under this authority, it passed the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 (SRA), 9.94A RCW, which guides sentencing discretion through the SRA's detailed statutory procedures. *Jones*, 182 Wn.2d at 6. Although sentencing courts generally enjoy discretion in tailoring sentences, for the most part that discretion does not extend to deciding whether to apply sentences concurrently or consecutively. *State v. Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d 596, 602, 115 P.3d 281 (2005). It is also within the purview of the legislature to amend these procedures in response to judicial interpretation. *Jones*, 182 Wn.2d at 6.

In construing a statute, the court's objective is to determine the legislature's intent. *Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d at 600. "[I]f the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d at 600 (alteration in original) (quoting *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)). The

"plain meaning" of a statutory provision is to be discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, as well as from the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. *Jacobs*, 54 Wn.2d at 600. If a statute is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, it is ambiguous and we may resort to legislative history for guidance in discerning legislative intent. *State v. Larson*, 185 Wn. App. 903, 909, 344 P.3d 244 (2015). RCW 9.94A.533 (6) governs the category of sentencing enhancements at issue here. It provides,

An additional twenty-four months shall be added to the standard sentence range for any ranked offense involving a violation of chapter 69.50 RCW if the offense was also a violation of RCW 69.50.435 or 9.94A.827. *All enhancements under this subsection shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions*, for all offenses sentenced under this chapter.

(Emphasis added.) And RCW 69.50.435(1) provides, in pertinent part,

Any person who violates RCW 69.50.401 by manufacturing, selling, delivering, or possessing with the intent to manufacture, sell, or deliver a controlled substance listed under RCW 69.50.401 or who violates RCW 69.50.410 by selling for profit any controlled substance or counterfeit substance classified in schedule I, RCW 69.50.204, except leaves and flowering tops of marihuana to a person:

(c) Within one thousand feet of a school bus route stop designated by the school district.

Importantly, the legislature had amended RCW 9.94A.533(6) in 2006 in light of our Supreme Court's decision in *Jacobs*. LAWS OF 2006, ch. 339, § 301. There, the Supreme Court, construing former RCW 9.94A.533(6) (2002),⁶ ruled that the provision was ambiguous as to whether the enhancements should be applied concurrently or consecutively. *Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d at 599. Consequently, the court applied the rule of lenity and remanded the case to the sentencing court with instructions to impose the two enhancements concurrently rather than consecutively. *Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d at 604.

After *Jacobs*, the legislature amended RCW 9.94A.533 (6), adding the second sentence to specify that courts are to impose drug zone enhancements "consecutively to all other sentencing provisions." RCW 9.94A.533 (6); H.B. REP. ON ENGROSSED SECOND SUBSTITUTE H.B. 6239, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess., at 7 (Wash. 2006). The legislature summarized this portion of the amendment by stating that "[s]tatutory language is clarified to specify that all sentence enhancements relating to violations of the [Uniform

⁶ Former RCW 9.94A.533(6) read, "[T]wenty-four months shall be added to the standard sentence range for any ranked offense involving a violation of chapter 9A.02 RCW ... if the offense was also a violation of RCW 9A.02.035 or 9A.02.045." *Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d at 601 (footnotes omitted). One of the two sentencing enhancements at issue there was also a school bus stop enhancement.

Controlled Substances Act, ch. 69.50 RCW,] in drug-free zones are to be run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions for all sentences under the [SRA]." H.B. REP. ON ENGROSSED SECOND SUBSTITUTE H.B. 6239, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess., at 12 (Wash. 2006).

Additionally, the House Bill Analysis also states that the intent of the amendment is in part to "[c]larif[y] that all sentence enhancements relating to violations of the Uniform Controlled Substance Act in drug-free zones are to be run consecutively (*instead of concurrently*) to all other sentencing provisions." HOUSE CRIMINAL JUSTICE & CORRECTIONS COMM. H.B. ANALYSIS ON ENGROSSED SECOND SUBSTITUTE H.B. 6239, at 2, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2006) (emphasis added). Courts have recognized that "[t]he acknowledged purpose of the amendment was to overturn the decision in [Jacobs]." *Gutierrez v. Dep't of Corr.*, 146 Wn. App. 151, 155-56, 188 P.3d 546 (2008).

Taylor contends that despite the statute's amended language, the sentencing court nevertheless erred by imposing the two school bus stop enhancements consecutively because RCW 9.94A.533(6) does not specifically say that school bus stop enhancements run consecutively to other school bus stop

enhancements. To support his position, Taylor cites the statutory provision which governs firearm enhancements and states specifically that all firearm enhancements run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, "including other firearm or deadly weapon enhancements." RCW 9.94A (533)(3)(e). Taylor urges this Court to conclude that the absence of similar language in the school bus stop enhancement provision evinces a different legislative intent.

Taylor's argument fails to consider the legislative history underlying the 2006 amendment which establishes that the trial court did not err by applying the enhancements consecutively. While Taylor may be correct that the provisions governing other categories of sentencing enhancements do use more specific language, he nevertheless fails to demonstrate how RCW 9.94A.533(6) does not require a sentencing court to apply multiple enhancements consecutively to one another. The statute directs courts to impose enhancements to run consecutively "to all other sentencing provisions." RCW 9.94A.533 (6). Taylor does not contend that the school bus stop enhancements do not constitute "other sentencing provisions."⁷ Indeed, the language of the related provisions suggests

⁷ Taylor also does not contend that "other" provisions refers to all sentencing provisions excluding the same category of enhancement.

otherwise. As mentioned, RCW 9.94A.533 (3) (e) states that firearm enhancements run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, including other firearm enhancements. And while Taylor is correct that a different legislative intent is presumed where the legislature uses certain language in one instance but different or dissimilar language in another, *State v. Scherz*, 107 Wn. App. 427, 435, 27 P.3d 252 (2001), there is evidence here to suggest that there was no different intent. To the extent that the statute is ambiguous, the relevant legislative history establishes that the legislature intended multiple school bus stop enhancements to run consecutively to the underlying offense and to each other. As mentioned, the legislature specifically stated that its purpose in amending RCW 9.94A.533(6) was to clarify that the enhancements are to run consecutively. H.B. REP. ON ENGROSSED SECOND SUBSTITUTE H.B. 6239, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess., at 12 (Wash. 2006). The legislature specifically sought to avoid the result in *Jacobs. Gutierrez*, 146 Wn. App. at 155-56. If the legislature intended multiple enhancements to run concurrently, there would have been no reason for the Supreme Court's holding in *Jacobs*.

As a result, the trial court properly applied the enhancements and the sentence should not be vacated.

VI. THE INFORMATION WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY SUFFICIENT AS IT CONTAINED ALL OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGED OFFENSES.

Mr. Taylor argues that the Information was constitutionally insufficient (and that he thus received inadequate notice of the charge) because the information did not contain critical facts and therefore did not provide adequate notice and did not protect against double jeopardy. Appellant's Brief 26. In short, Mr. Taylor asserts the lack of an address of the location of the school bus stop enhancement was a critical fact. This claim is without merit because the information contained all of the essential elements of the charged offense.

1. Standard of Review.

Sufficiency of a charging document is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Williams*, 162 Wn.2d 177, 182, 170 P.3d 30 (2007). The correct standard of review is determined by the sufficiency challenge is made. *City of Bothell v. Kaiser*, 152 Wn. App. 466, 471, 217 P.3d 339 (2009). A charging document challenged for the first time on appeal is "liberally construed in favor of validity." *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 102, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). Mr. Taylor made no

objection below to the information and review should be liberally construed in favor of a valid charging document.

2. Liberally Construed, The Fourth Amended Information Contained All The Essential Elements Of The Crimes Charged.

Under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution, a charging document must include all essential elements of a crime to inform a defendant of the charges against him and to allow preparation for the defense. *State v. Phillips*, 98 Wn. App. 936, 939, 991 P.2d 1195 (2000), *citing Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 101–02. A charging document is constitutionally sufficient if the information states each statutory element of the crime, even if it is vague as to some other matter significant to the defense. *State v. Holt*, 104 Wn.2d 315, 320, 704 P.2d 1189 (1985). “An essential element is one whose specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior charged.” *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013) (citations and quotations omitted). The primary reasons for the essential elements rule is it requires the State to give notice of the nature of the crime the defendant is accused of committing and it allows a defendant to adequately prepare his or her case. *Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d at 158-59 (citations and quotations omitted).

When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of a charging document, the standard of review depends on the timing of the challenge. *State v. Ralph*, 85 Wn. App. 82, 84, 930 P.2d 1235 (1997). If a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the information “at or before trial,” the court is to construe the information strictly. *Phillips*, 98 Wn. App. at 940, quoting *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 788, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995). Under this strict construction standard, if a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the information before the State rests and the information omits an essential element of the crime, the court must dismiss the case “without prejudice to the State's ability to re-file the charges.” *Phillips*, 98 Wn. App. at 940, quoting *Ralph*, 85 Wn. App. at 86.

If, however, a defendant moves to dismiss an allegedly insufficient charging document after a point when the State can no longer amend the information, such as when the State has rested its case, the court is to construe the information liberally in favor of validity. *Phillips*, 98 Wn. App. at 942–43. As this Court has noted, these differing standards illustrate the balance between giving defendants sufficient notice to prepare a defense and “discouraging defendants’ ‘sandbagging,’ the potential practice of remaining silent in the face of a constitutionally defective charging document (in lieu

of a timely challenge or request for a bill of particulars, which could result in the State's amending the information to cure the defect such that the trial could proceed.” *State v. Killiona-Garramone*, 166 Wn. App. 16, 23 n.7, 267 P.3d 426 (2011), *citing Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 103; *Phillips*, 98 Wn. App. at 940 (*citing* 2 Wayne R. LaFave & Jerold H. Israel, *Criminal Procedure* § 19.2, at 442 n. 36 (1984)).

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